

Office of the Consumer Advocate  
Comments on Proposed Puc 1200 Rules  
April 22, 2011

As a preliminary matter, the OCA wishes to thank the Commission for clarifying during the public hearing on the proposed Puc 1200 rule revisions that although the rulemaking has been noticed for the entire 1200 rules, the intent of the current rulemaking is to amend only the Puc 1205 rules related to medical emergencies. The OCA will therefore limit its comments to the medical protection sections at this time, and will provide other comments on the broader 1200 rules in a future rulemaking docket. We also appreciate all of the extra process that Staff provided to interested parties by convening discussions to review the rules and existing processes used by the utilities last year.

We generally support the improvements in the rules that increase the length of the medical protection period for customers, allow the utilities more flexibility in how they receive medical emergency certifications, and which clarify the processes that utilities must follow to disconnect customer who have current or expired medical protection under the rules.

As we stated at the hearing, we support the comments of New Hampshire Legal Assistance (NHLA) (first submitted on January 7, 2011 and filed on April 20, 2011), which are focused on two issues: Public Service Company of New Hampshire's (PSNH's) proposal to make the medical emergency rules require financial means testing; and the processes surrounding Commission approval of a utility request for disconnection of customers who have or have had medical protection under the rules.

With respect to the first issue, we agree with NHLA that PSNH's proposal to make the medical protections in Puc 1205 available only to those who have shown that they have a financial hardship undermines the purpose of the protection, and also creates the need to develop

a process for determining eligibility for medical protection that does not currently exist. It appears that PSNH's concern is the issue of uncollected bills resulting from customers who have or have had medical emergency protection from disconnection, and who have existing balances. PSNH stated at the hearing that some of those balances are significant, and that the Company currently has approximately \$1.5 million in receivables related to these customers. While the OCA takes no position on the recovery of these specific amounts at this time, generally we believe that this issue should be raised by utilities in a rate case, or in a separate proceeding focused on that particular issue, rather than in the context of the Commission's promulgation of medical protection rules.<sup>1</sup>

The second issue raised in NHLA's comments relates to the process and notice that is provided to customers who have medical emergency protection under the rules (or had in the past), and for whom a utility has sought Commission permission for disconnection. We are pleased that the proposed rules include the requirement that a customer is notified in writing when a utility seeks Commission permission to disconnect (1205.03(d)), and that subsection (f) of that rule requires the utility to notify the customer of the Commission's decision. We are also pleased that the proposal includes 1205.05, which provides specific requirements for disconnecting customers who have an expired medical protection. However, we agree with NHLA that medical emergency customers (or an authorized third party) should be contacted prior to disconnection taking place, and that medical emergency customers who are disconnected (or whose disconnection has been approved by the Commission) should be advised that they can

---

<sup>1</sup> With respect to PSNH, the OCA also notes that in DE 09-035 the Commission approved a Settlement Agreement that includes a requirement that the Company undertake an independent review and analysis of PSNH's uncollectible expenses, the Company's collection practices, and recent trends. The resulting report will include "recommendations for dealing with uncollectible expense going forward." DE 09-035 Settlement Agreement, p. 9 Section 8.1. The resulting report will be considered by the parties to determine the most appropriate way to address collectibles.

seek a review of the decision by the Commission. We also recommend that, in addition to the notification required by 1205.03(d), the utility be required to send to the customer a copy of the request to disconnect filed with Commission. we understand that all customers, including those with medical emergencies, can request a Disconnection Conference under Puc 1203.16, and we believe that this rule should be cited in the 1205 rules so that this option is clear to those who utilize the 1205 sections. Because emergency situations, including those which are life threatening, can arise when medical emergency customers are disconnected, we believe that additional process should be afforded to these customers by the Commission.

Another issue that we raised earlier in the process is why there are separate medical protection rules for telephone service, which are found in the Puc 400 rules. We wonder if it would be more appropriate to have one uniform set of rules related to medical protections, and to have them all within the Puc 1200 rules. We understand that this would require amendments to the Puc 400 rules, but we suggest that the Commission consider such changes in a future rulemaking docket. In addition, we note that sewer service is not covered by the medical protection rules, as all other utility services are, and we believe that uniformity in disconnection rules among types of utility services may be appropriate.

Finally, the OCA also has additional comments that we are providing with the attached redlined version of the rules. We again note that those comments are limited based on our understanding that this rulemaking docket is limited to the issue of medical emergency protection. Thank you for your consideration of our comments.

Puc 1201.02 Scope of Rules. With the exception of Puc 1204 and where otherwise noted, these rules shall apply to any public utility providing electric, gas, sewer, steam, telephone, or water service to the public in the state of New Hampshire excluding limited electrical energy producers as defined in RSA 362-A. With the exception of Puc 1203.07, Puc 1203.11, Puc 1203.12, Puc 1203.16, Puc 1204.01, Puc 1204.02, Puc 1204.03, Puc 1204.04, Puc 1204.05 and Part Puc 1205 as such rules apply to residential customers only, these rules shall not apply to rural electric cooperatives for which a certificate of deregulation is on file with the Commission.

Puc 1202.12 “Medical emergency” means a situation where a utility customer or member of the customer’s household has a physical or mental health condition that would become a danger to the customer’s or household member’s physical or mental health in the absence of utility service as certified to the utility by a licensed physician, advanced practice registered nurse, physician’s assistant or mental health practitioner as defined in RSA 330-A:2,VII.

Puc 1203.02 Information to Customers.

(j) With the exception of sewer utilities, each utility shall provide notice on or with customer bills no less frequently than two times a year regarding medical emergency certification. The notice shall be consistent with the statement contained in Puc 1203.11(b)(2)k.

Puc 1203.07 Payment Arrangements.

(b) When a residential customer is unable to pay the total arrearage due and the utility has been notified that a medical emergency exists pursuant to Puc 1205, the utility shall continue to provide service to the customer if the customer agrees to a payment arrangement wherein additional flexibility is built into the payment arrangement, including but not limited to negotiating a flat monthly payment, for application to both the arrearage and the customer’s current bill.

**Comment [A1]:** The previous rule referred to PUC 403, which is a Reserved section of the Puc 400 rules. Should this subsection of Puc 1203.07 refer to any existing Puc 400 sections (e.g., Puc 412.15, 412.16, 432.14, 432.15)?

(k) The utility may disconnect without additional notice any customer for failure to comply with a properly confirmed payment arrangement, except as provided for in Part Puc 1205 which deals with medical emergencies.

Puc 1203.11 Disconnection of Service.

(a) This section shall not apply to sewer or telephone utilities. Regulation of disconnection of telephone service shall be found in Puc 403.03. Regulation of disconnection of sewer service shall be found in Puc 703.08.

**Comment [A2]:** Puc 403.03 does not exist (i.e., Puc 403 is a Reserved section of the Puc 400 rules). Replace with correct references to Puc 400 (e.g., Puc 412.15, 412.16, 432.14, 432.15)?

(b) Except in the circumstances described in Puc 1203.07(k) or listed under (3) below, a utility shall give notice of disconnection as follows:

**Comment [A3]:** Should this be Puc 703.03?

(1) For purposes of this section, notice of disconnection to a residential or non-residential customer shall consist of written notice setting forth the information listed in (2) below, postmarked 14 calendar days prior to the proposed date of disconnection;

(2) Notice of disconnection shall set forth in clear, concise, and conspicuously printed words the following information:

- a. The name and mailing address of the customer;
- b. The service address, if different from the mailing address;

- c. The account number;
- d. The proposed date of disconnection of service;
- e. A conspicuous statement that the notice of disconnection may be disregarded if the customer has negotiated a current payment arrangement pursuant to Puc 1203.07;
- f. The reason for the disconnection of service;
- g. The possible consequences of disconnection, such as deposit requirement, reconnection fee, and/or any other similar consequences;
- h. The address and telephone number at which the customer may contact the utility;
- i. The toll-free telephone number of the commission's consumer affairs division, which is: 1-800-852-3793;
- j. The method by which the customer may question or contest the disconnection notice, preceded in conspicuous type by the words "Important Notice - Your Rights";
- k. The statement or a statement substantively consistent with the statement: "MEDICAL EMERGENCY- If you believe that a medical emergency exists in your home or would exist if your service were to be disconnected, you may be eligible for protection from disconnection. Please contact us at [insert telephone number of the utility] for more information."; and
- l. Any additional data which the utility deems pertinent.

(3) Notice to a residential or non-residential customer shall not be required if the utility notifies the commission of the disconnection within 48 hours of the disconnection and one of the following conditions exists:

- a. The customer has obtained utility service in an unauthorized manner or used utility service fraudulently;
- b. The customer has clearly abandoned the property as demonstrated by the fact that the service address premises have been unoccupied and vacant for a period of 60 calendar days;
- c. A condition dangerous to the health, safety or utility service of others exists; or
- d. Clear and present danger to life, health or physical property exists;

(4) The requirements of (3) above shall not impose a duty on utilities to know of any dangerous condition, or to insure against any such condition; and

(5) The notification to the commission required in (3) above shall not apply where the disconnection has occurred at the request of municipal officials such as fire, police, or other public safety departments.

(c) Except as limited by (d) below, a utility may disconnect service to a residential customer after notice if any one of the following circumstances exists:

- (1) When the customer has failed to pay an arrearage after proper demand therefore;

Deleted: protected

**Comment [A4]:** Who determines whether or not these conditions exist? Should the Commission specify who makes these determinations?

- (2) When the customer has failed to pay a deposit request or to establish a direct debit account or provide an acceptable third-party guarantee in lieu of the deposit pursuant to Puc 1203.03;
- (3) When the customer has failed to pay the bill and failed to enter into a payment arrangement for payment of the bill on or before the due date printed on the bill; or
- (4) When the customer refuses access to the residential premises for a necessary inspection of utility property, including but not limited to the reading of meters.

(d) A utility shall not disconnect a residential customer's service and a notice of disconnection shall not be sent to a residential customer if any of the following conditions exist:

- (1) The customer's arrearage is less than 60 calendar days outstanding and is less than \$50;
- (2) The unpaid bill results from other than basic utility service, such as merchandise, appliance sales, or repairs;
- (3) Winter period rules apply pursuant to Puc 1204;
- (4) Medical emergency rules apply pursuant to Puc 1205;
- (5) A municipal welfare office has guaranteed payment of current bills on behalf of the customer, pursuant to the town's public welfare obligations under RSA 165, and the customer agrees to enter into a reasonable arrangement for repayment of the amount in arrears pursuant to Puc 1203.07; or
- (6) The arrearage is for prior residential service furnished in the name of someone other than the customer of record unless:

- a. The customer of record and the above mentioned person other than the customer of record resided together at the address where the arrearage was incurred;
- b. Both that person and the customer of record received the benefit of the utility service;
- c. Both that person and the customer of record reside together at the current service address and receive the benefit of the current utility service; and
- d. The person other than the customer of record refuses to enter into a payment arrangement subject to all the provisions of Puc 1203.07.

(e) A utility may disconnect service to a non-residential customer after proper notice if any of the following conditions exist:

- (1) The customer has failed to pay any arrearage remaining unpaid after proper demand therefore;
- (2) The customer has violated any tariff provision;
- (3) The customer has failed to pay a properly requested deposit, establish a direct debit account or provide an acceptable third party guarantee; or
- (4) The customer refuses access to the premises for a necessary inspection of utility property, including but not limited to the reading of meters.

(f) Unless special arrangements are made with the customer, a utility shall only disconnect service to its residential customers from 8:00 am to 3:30 pm Monday through Thursday.

**Comment [A5]:** Should this also refer to the Puc 400 rules related to disconnection?

**Comment [A6]:** Who determines whether or not these conditions exist? Should the Commission specify who makes these determinations?

**Comment [A7]:** Who determines whether or not these conditions exist? Should the Commission specify who makes these determinations?

(g) The utility shall not disconnect service to its residential customers during the time specified by (f) above if the proposed disconnection would occur on:

- (1) A state or federal holiday;
- (2) The day preceding a state or federal holiday;
- (3) A day the commission is closed to the public; or
- (4) The day preceding a day the commission is closed to the public.

(h) Unless special arrangements are made with the customer, a utility shall only disconnect service to its non-residential customers from 8:00 am to 3:30 pm Monday through Friday.

(i) The utility shall not disconnect service to its non-residential customers during the time specified by (h) above if the proposed disconnection would occur on:

- (1) A state or federal holiday; or
- (2) A day the commission is closed to the public.

(j) The utility shall have 8 business days from the date of the proposed disconnect in which to implement the disconnection.

(k) Except as limited in Puc 1205.05, before disconnection of residential service, the utility employee disconnecting the service shall notify an adult occupant of the premises or leave a written notice if no adult is at the premises. The notice shall include information as to how the customer may be reconnected.

(l) When the utility sends an employee to a residential customer's premises for the purpose of disconnecting service and the customer tenders payment of the past due amount in full to prevent disconnection, the employee shall act as follows:

- (1) The utility's employee shall accept the payment, provide the customer with a receipt, and leave the service intact as long as the following is true:
  - a. The employee shall know the full past due amount to be paid to bring the customer's account current;
  - b. The employee shall not be required to make change; and
  - c. The employee shall not be required to negotiate payment arrangements; or

(2) Without disconnecting the customer's service, the utility's employee shall direct the customer to go immediately to the utility's nearest office or payment agency and tender payment there.

(m) A utility may charge for collection of payment at the customer's premises in accordance with the utility's tariffs on file with the commission.

(n) The utility shall not be required to follow the procedures described in (p) above more than 2 times in a 12 month period.

(o) A utility may use a third party to conduct collection activities provided:

- (1) The third party complies with Puc 1200; and

**Comment [A8]:** Would this section permit the utility to disconnect service contemporaneously with leaving the written notice? If so what if an person under the age of 18 is home alone?

**Comment [A9]:** Would the notice include contact information for the utility? Could the notice include contact information for the Commission?

**Comment [A10]:** Should the customer also be directed to contact the utility to obtain correct payment amount due and owing?

(2) For all accounts other than terminated accounts, the use of a third party is transparent to the customer.

(p) The commission shall impose a moratorium on disconnections of service when there exists an imminent peril to the public's health, safety or welfare.

(q) Utilities shall maintain records showing the:

- (1) Number of disconnection notices sent out annually; and
- (2) Annual number of and reasons for actual disconnections.

Puc 1203.13 Reconnection of Service.

(e) A charge shall be made for reconnection of service in accordance with tariffs on file. However, no charge shall be made when the cause for disconnection was not in compliance with Puc 1203.11, Puc 1203.12, and Part Puc 1205.

Puc 1203.19 Interruption of Service.

(a) In the event of interruption of service, utilities shall re-establish service within the shortest time practicable consistent with safety.

(b) When service is interrupted because the utility must perform work on mains, lines, or equipment, the utility shall perform the work at a time causing minimum inconvenience to customers consistent with the circumstances.

(c) Whenever practicable with reference to the planned work, contemplated by (b) above, utilities shall notify the following customers, where known, in advance:

- (1) Alarm services;
- (2) Medical alert services;
- (3) Emergency services;
- (4) Medical emergency customers; and
- (5) Other similarly situated customers who will be seriously affected by the service interruption.

PART Puc 1204 WINTER RULES

Puc 1204.06 Review of Pre-Winter Period Disconnections

(f) Where a customer indicates that a household member has a medical emergency as defined in Puc 1202.12, the utility shall inform the customer of his/her rights as detailed in Part Puc 1205 and service will be restored upon:

- (1) Receipt of a licensed physician's, advanced practice registered nurse's, physician's assistant's or mental health practitioner's certification of medical emergency; and
- (2) Establishment of a payment arrangement in accordance with Puc 1203.07.

**Comment [A11]:** Is there a need to reference any medical emergency provisions in Puc 400 rules?

**Comment [A12]:** Is there a need to reference any medical emergency provisions in Puc 400 rules?

(g) Annually, the utility shall submit a report to the commission no later than December 10 summarizing:

- (1) The number of letters mailed;
- (2) The number of letters returned;
- (3) The number of customers whose service was restored;
- (4) The number of customers whose service was not restored; and
- (5) The reasons why service was not restored, if known.

(h) This Part Puc 1204.06 shall take effect November 1, 2005.

Comment [A13]: Is this necessary?

Deleted: part

#### PART Puc 1205 MEDICAL EMERGENCY RULES

Puc 1205.01 Applicability of Medical Emergency Rules. The provisions of Puc 1205 shall apply to service provided to residential customers by electric, gas, steam and water utilities. The requirements of this section shall be in addition to those requirements of Puc 1203.11, Puc 1203.12, and Puc 1204. Medical emergency rules pertaining to service provided by telephone utilities to residential customers shall be found in Puc 412 and Puc 432.

Comment [A14]: Refer to specific sections: Puc 412.15(g), 412.16(h), 432.14(g), 432.15(h)?

#### Puc 1205.02 Medical Emergency Certification.

(a) Provision of a medical emergency certification, in conjunction with a payment arrangement for any past due balances in accordance with Puc 1203.07 (b), shall be sufficient to protect a customer's account from disconnection of service so long as the customer complies with the terms of the payment arrangement.

Comment [A15]: Add words to the effect of, "and follows the process required for renewal of the certification upon its expiration"?

(b) A medical emergency certification shall be valid for the period of time designated by the licensed physician, licensed advanced practice registered nurse or licensed physician's assistant or mental health practitioner as defined in RSA 330-A:2, VII, provided the certification is for no less than 90 days and no more than one year.

(c) There is no limit on the number of times a medical emergency certification may be renewed consistent with (b) above.

(d) Oral notification of the existence of a physical or mental health condition which would become a danger to the physical or mental health of the customer or household member may be provided to the utility by the customer and shall be sufficient to protect a customer's account temporarily from disconnection of service provided:

(1) Certification as described in (e) below from a physician, advanced practice registered nurse, physician's assistant or mental health practitioner is received within 15 calendar days; and

(2) Any prior oral notification made within the past 6 months has been verified through certification as described in (e) below.

Comment [A16]: Does this mean every prior oral notification or any prior oral notification?

(e) Certification of a medical emergency by a physician, advanced practice registered nurse, physician's assistant or mental health practitioner shall:

- (1) Contain a statement to the effect that the customer or identified member of the customer's household has a physical or mental health condition which would become a danger to the customer's or household member's physical or mental health should the utility service be disconnected;
- (2) Be in writing, which includes any electronic communication, or be made by telephone with written or electronic confirmation received by the utility within 15 calendar days of the telephoned certification;
- (3) Contain licensing information for the physician, advanced practice registered nurse, physician's assistant or mental health practitioner; and
- (4) Indicate the use of any life support equipment by the customer or identified member of the customer's household.

(f) All renewals of medical emergency certifications shall comply with (b) and (e) above.

(g) The medical emergency certification may be made through the completion of a form provided by the utility or another written or electronic format provided such other format complies with the provisions of (e) above.

(h) Upon being notified of the existence of a medical emergency in accordance with (d) or (e) above, the utility shall inform the customer in writing of the following:

- (1) The customer's continuing obligation to pay for services;
- (2) The requirement to enter into a payment arrangement for any past due amounts as a condition of the medical emergency certification;
- (3) The option to designate a third party contact for communications with the utility regarding billing and other matters related to the customer's account; and
- (4) The need for the customer to plan for power outages that might occur.

(i) If certification of a medical emergency has not been provided within 15 days of receipt of oral notice from a customer or the physician, advanced practice registered nurse, physician's assistant or mental health practitioner that a medical emergency would exist if utility service were disconnected, the utility shall send a reminder notice to the customer advising that such certification must be received within 15 days of the date of the reminder.

(j) If the utility does not receive written or electronic certification of the medical emergency within the time period in (i) above, the utility may disconnect service in accordance with Puc 1203.11.

Puc 1205.03 Disconnections of Service to Medical Emergency Customers.

(a) A utility shall not disconnect service to a customer who has provided current verification of a medical emergency and is complying with a payment arrangement for any past due amounts.

**Comment [A17]:** Should there be a corresponding rule that requires the utility to abide by a customer's designation of a third party contact?

**Comment [A18]:** Should notice to customer include information about the consequences of failing to abide by payment arrangement, i.e., termination?

**Comment [A19]:** Should notice to customer also include information about the customer's responsibility to renew the medical certification when it expires?

(b) If a customer does not enter into a payment arrangement or does not comply with the terms of a payment arrangement negotiated in accordance with Puc 1203.07, the utility may seek permission to disconnect service to the customer.

(c) When requesting permission from the commission to disconnect service, the utility shall provide the commission with the following information:

- (1) The customer's name;
- (2) The service address;
- (3) The customer's account number;
- (4) The requested date for disconnection;
- (5) The history of the medical certifications on the account;
- (6) The amount of the arrearage;
- (7) The amounts and dates of the last 3 payments received by the utility;
- (8) The amount and date of the next anticipated payment, if known;
- (9) The last 12 months of billing and payment history;
- (10) Summary of collection activities on the account;
- (11) The number of children in the household under the age of 5, if known;
- (12) The number of household members over the age of 65, if known;
- (13) The existence of any financial hardship, if known, as documented on an annual basis by the customer claiming financial hardship; and
- (14) Any other information the utility deems pertinent.

(d) When the utility seeks commission authorization to disconnect service pursuant to this section, it shall notify the customer in writing of its request at the same time.

(e) The commission shall not approve disconnection of service to customers with a current medical emergency certification when the customer has made a good faith effort to make payments towards the utility bill.

(f) Upon approval by the commission of disconnection, the utility shall provide notice to the customers as required in Puc 1203.11 prior to disconnecting service.

(g) The commission's decision on a utility's request to disconnect under this rule shall be in writing and sent to the utility and the customer. The decision shall include the legal and factual bases for the approval or disapproval of the disconnection request.

Puc 1205.04 Expiration of Medical Emergency Certification.

**Comment [A20]:** Utility should provide a copy of this filing to the customer, too.

**Comment [A21]:** This could be duplicative of the information required by (9), below. Could this be changed to, "The amounts and dates of the last 3 payments received by the utility, if not within the last 12 months.?"

**Comment [A22]:** This notice could include a copy of the filing made by the utility with the Commission pursuant to 1205.03(c).

**Comment [A23]:** Add cite to 1203:16 to alert reader to ability to request disconnection conference with Staff.

(a) Thirty days prior to the expiration of the medical emergency certification, the utility shall send a reminder notice to the customer advising that, if a medical emergency still exists, the certification of a medical emergency must be renewed. The notice shall include the date by which the certification must be renewed.

(b) Upon the expiration of a medical emergency certification, the utility shall notify the customer that the medical emergency certification has expired and the customer's account will no longer be medically protected. Such notice shall also indicate the balance due, if any.

(c) Notice provided in (b) above shall include a statement directing the customer to contact the utility immediately if the previously certified medical condition continues to exist.

Puc 1205.05 Disconnection of Service to Customers with Expired Medical Emergency Certifications.

(a) The utility is required to follow the steps set forth in Puc 1205.05 (b) through (h) one time within the 9 month period following the expiration of the medical emergency certification.

(b) The issuance of any notice of disconnection shall be done in accordance with Puc 1203.11(d) and shall comply with the provisions of Puc 1203.11(b).

(c) No less than 2 calendar days but no more than 8 calendar days prior to the date of the proposed disconnection of service, personal contact must be made with the customer or an adult occupant of the premises. The contact may be made by telephone or in person.

(d) If no personal contact is made as described in (c) above, no disconnection shall occur unless the utility complies with (e) below.

(e) The utility may proceed with a field visit on or after the disconnection date stated on the notice.

(1) If an adult occupant of the residence is not at home, the utility shall leave a notice in a conspicuous location at the premises and shall leave the premises without disconnecting the service; or

(2) If an adult occupant of the residence is at home, the utility shall ask if the medical emergency still exists and inform the adult occupant of the process for providing a certification of medical emergency as described in Puc 1205.02 (b) and (d). If no medical emergency exists, the utility may proceed with the service disconnection in accordance with Puc 1203.11.

Comment [A24]: Who decides?

(f) The notice required in (e)(1) above shall advise the customer:

(1) The medical emergency certification on the customer's account has expired:

(2) There is an unpaid past due balance on the account;

(3) The utility was at the premises that day to disconnect the utility service;

(4) To contact the utility to make arrangement for payment; and

(5) The utility will return the following week to disconnect service unless the customer contacts the utility.

Comment [A25]: Should this notice also include contact information for the utility and the commission?

(g) For the purposes of this section, the 8 business day limitation established in Puc 1203.11 (j) shall begin upon the provision of notice pursuant to (e)(1) above.

(h) Prior to disconnecting the service of a customer with whom no personal contact was made, a supervisor at the utility shall review the account.

Puc 1205.06 Reporting Requirements.

(a) Each utility shall provide an annual report to the commission containing:

- (1) The total number of customers with medical emergency certifications on June 30;
- (2) The total amount due and the total amount past due as of June 30 for those customers with medical emergency certifications;
- (3) The monthly average number of customers with medical emergency certifications for the period July 1 through June 30;
- (4) The monthly average balance due and past due for the period July 1 through June 30;
- (5) The percent of medical emergency customers with past due balances as of June 30;
- (6) The number of accounts with current medical emergency certifications that were disconnected during the period July 1 through June 30 and the past due balances associated with those accounts;
- (7) The number of accounts with expired medical emergency certifications that were disconnected in accordance with Puc 1205.04 during the period July 1 through June 30 and the past due balances associated with those accounts; and
- (8) The number of customers with current medical emergency certifications who were disconnected in error along with an explanation of why the account was erroneously disconnected.

(b) The report required in (a) above shall be submitted to the Commission no later than August 15 of each year. A copy of the report shall be provided contemporaneously to the Office of the Consumer Advocate.

**Comment [A26]:** Include information about the outcome of the erroneous disconnections, too.